File Ref: **B&M/2/1/63C** 

# LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BRIEF

# **BANKING ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 155)**

# BANKING (DISCLOSURE) (AMENDMENT) RULES 2016

# BANKING (SPECIFICATION OF CLASS OF EXEMPTED CHARGES) (AMENDMENT) NOTICE 2016

### INTRODUCTION

For the purpose of implementing, or facilitating the implementation of, the latest international standards for banking regulation in Hong Kong, the Acting Monetary Authority ("MA") has made –

- (a) the Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016 ("BDAR 2016") (Annex A), principally to introduce, for authorized institutions<sup>1</sup> ("AIs"), the revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("BCBS") in January 2015 ("2015 Basel Package"); and
- (b) the Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges)
   (Amendment) Notice 2016 ("the Amendment Notice") (Annex
   B), to provide a degree of exemption from certain limitations imposed under the Banking Ordinance on the creation by an AI of security in the form of charges over the AI's assets.

### **JUSTIFICATIONS**

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

Authorized institutions refer to licensed banks, restricted licence banks, and deposit-taking companies authorized under the Banking Ordinance.

- 2. The BCBS, of which Hong Kong is a member, is the international body that sets standards on banking regulation with a view to enhancing financial stability. The existing Basel framework comprises three mutually reinforcing "pillars" designed to address the risks faced by banks. Pillars 1 and 2 prescribe the calculation of a series of minimum capital adequacy ratios and a corresponding supervisory review process respectively, whereas Pillar 3 requires public disclosure of key information on the capital, liquidity, and risk exposures to facilitate risk assessment in relation to banks and enhance market disciplines.
- 3. In January 2015, the BCBS published the latest Pillar 3 disclosure requirements, which aim to improve the comparability and consistency of disclosure between banks and across jurisdictions. The BDAR 2016 seeks to apply these disclosure requirements to locally incorporated AIs. It is incumbent upon Hong Kong, a major international financial centre, to adopt the revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements, so as to ensure that regulatory disclosures made by AIs are consistent with the international standards.
- 4. The 2015 Basel Package focuses on the disclosure of information relating to the risk-weighted assets ("RWA")<sup>2</sup> of AIs. It prescribes a set of standard templates for banks to make disclosure at specified frequencies (i.e. quarterly, semi-annually or annually) in respect of a series of risks. The existing disclosure requirements put in place under the previous Basel framework will be substantially replaced as a result. In line with the established practice for codifying Basel standards, the standard templates will be specified by the MA for use by AIs under section 6(1)(ab) of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules ("BDR").<sup>3</sup>
- 5. Taking this opportunity, the MA also proposes to introduce amendments to the BDR to –

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RWA is a key component for calculating the minimum capital requirement of a bank under the BCBS capital framework.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, disclosure standards forming part of the Basel III framework in respect of the definition of regulatory capital, the liquidity coverage ratio and the leverage ratio were introduced via amendments to the BDR in 2013 and 2014.

- (a) address the lack of quarterly disclosure in Hong Kong of certain key regulatory capital and leverage ratios (and their constituent components), as identified by the BCBS under its Regulatory Consistency Assessment Programme ("RCAP"). <sup>4</sup> It is important to note that the new quarterly disclosure rules relate only to the disclosure of selected key regulatory requirements. They do not mandate more generalized quarterly financial reporting requirements for AIs; and
- (b) revise the existing provisions of the BDR<sup>5</sup> in relation to the financial disclosure requirements for locally incorporated AIs (as opposed to regulatory disclosures required for prudential reasons) to remove duplication and inconsistencies with similar requirements that already exist in applicable financial reporting standards with which such AIs are required to comply under the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). This should in turn facilitate disclosure by the industry as AIs will only need to refer to a single set of standards (i.e. the applicable financial reporting standards) for making financial disclosures, instead of having to observe two sets of standards containing definitional differences in certain areas.
- 6. The proposed new disclosure requirements are applicable to locally incorporated AIs, except for any such AIs that have been exempted by the MA under section 3 of Part 1 of the BDR (by virtue of their relatively small size of operation in terms of total assets and total deposits from customers). Resulting from the proposed new disclosure requirements, a few consequential amendments (mainly definitional in nature) applicable to disclosure by overseas-incorporated AIs are also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The BCBS has been conducting the RCAP since 2012 to evaluate the compliance of member jurisdictions' regulatory frameworks with the minimum Basel III standards and other prevailing capital standards published by the BCBS. In a report published by the BCBS in 2015, it was observed that Hong Kong lacked the quarterly disclosure requirements specified by the BCBS for key regulatory ratios.

The existing provisions under the BDR require banks to disclose both (i) "regulatory disclosures" promulgated mainly by the BCBS; and (ii) "financial disclosures" primarily driven by the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"). It is no longer desirable for the BDR to continue to prescribe disclosure requirements associated with the financial disclosures, because (i) all locally incorporated AIs are required by the Companies Ordinance to make financial disclosures in annual financial statements in compliance with the HKFRS; and (ii) focusing Pillar 3 reports on regulatory disclosures is a consistent practice adopted by banking supervisors internationally.

included as part of the BDAR 2016.

# Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) (Amendment) Notice 2016

- 7. Following calls to improve transparency and reduce counterparty risk in the over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives markets in the aftermath of the global financial crisis, the BCBS and the International Organisation of Securities Commissions ("IOSCO") jointly promulgated in 2013 a set of standards on margin requirements for OTC derivatives that are not cleared through central counterparties. The IOSCO further issued a set of risk mitigation standards for non-centrally cleared OTC derivatives in 2015.
- 8. As a member of the BCBS and the IOSCO, it is incumbent upon Hong Kong to implement the internationally agreed margin and risk mitigation standards. During consultation on the proposals for the local implementation of these standards, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority ("HKMA") noted the industry's concern that the exchange of initial margin between an AI and its counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction as required under the proposals would create a "charge" as defined under section 119A(1) of the Banking Ordinance, and thus have implications for AIs' compliance with the limitation under section 119A(2) of the Ordinance.
- 9. Section 119A of the Banking Ordinance governs the creation by a locally incorporated AI of charges over its assets. Under section 119A(2), except with the approval of the MA, an AI is prohibited from creating charges under certain circumstances (e.g. if the aggregate value of all charges existing over its total assets is 5% or more of the value of those total assets). The limitation does not apply to the classes of charges specified in the Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) Notice.
- 10. To facilitate the industry's compliance with the latest margin and risk mitigation standards, HKMA considers it necessary to exempt, by way of making the Amendment Notice, charges relating to the provision of initial margin for OTC derivative transactions from the aforesaid

prohibition, up to a value equivalent to 5% of an AI's total assets. This approach aims to strike a balance between facilitating the implementation of the BCBS-IOSCO standards and preserving the integrity of section 119A, which is to limit the extent of charges that can be created by an AI over its total assets.

# THE SUBSIDIARY LEGISLATION

# Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

11. The key amendments proposed in the BDAR 2016 are as follows

# 2015 Basel Package

- (a) A new Part 2A is added to outline the key requirements and disclosure frequency for each standard disclosure template in accordance with the 2015 Basel Package, together with the requirement that, where appropriate, quantitative disclosures should be accompanied with a qualitative explanation of any material changes observed during the current reporting period;
- (b) The existing Parts 5, 6 and 7 of the BDR that contain the regulatory risk disclosures, to be superseded by the new disclosure requirements, are repealed and replaced by the new Part 2A referred to in paragraph 11(a) above;
- (c) The existing sections 3, 6 and 8 of the BDR are revised to reflect the requirements in the 2015 Basel Package regarding disclosure frequencies, the medium and location of disclosure, as well as the quality assurance of information disclosed;

# Quarterly disclosures

(d) The existing section 14 of the BDR (on frequency of disclosure requirements) is revised to give effect to quarterly disclosure requirements under the new Part 2A and new Part 2B of the BDR. The new Part 2B prescribes

the quarterly disclosure requirements of the key capital and leverage ratios and their constituent components;

# Financial disclosure requirements

- (e) The existing sections 19, 20, 21, 22, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42 and 43 of the BDR are repealed to avoid duplicating the financial disclosures requirements where similar requirements already exist in applicable financial reporting standards with which compliance is required under the Companies Ordinance; and
- (f) A new section 29B is added, and the existing section 35 of the BDR revised, to require AIs to make and maintain an appropriate level of interim and annual financial disclosures in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standards.

# Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) (Amendment) Notice 2016

12. The Amendment Notice seeks to revise the existing Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) Notice (Cap. 155K) to include a new class of charge to be exempted from the limitation under section 119A(2) of the Banking Ordinance. In other words, section 119A(2) will not apply to charges that are created in connection with the provision of initial margin for any OTC derivative transaction and the aggregate current book value of which does not exceed 5% of the current book value of the total assets (excluding contra items) of the AI.

### LEGISLATIVE TIMETABLE

13. The two pieces of subsidiary legislation will be published in the Gazette on 30 December 2016 and tabled at the Legislative Council at its sitting of 11 January 2017. Subject to negative vetting by the Legislative Council, the BDAR 2016 and the Amendment Notice are expected to come into operation on 31 March 2017 and 3 March 2017 respectively.

## IMPLICATION OF THE PROPOSALS

- 14. The amendments proposed in the BDAR 2016 are consistent with international disclosure standards for banks. The enhanced disclosure requirements will promote risk management and the exercise of market discipline in relation to banking activities, and hence contribute to the overall stability of the banking system.
- 15. The proposed Amendment Notice will clarify the treatment of initial margin arising from OTC derivative transactions under section 119A of the Banking Ordinance, thereby facilitating the implementation of the BCBS-IOSCO standards.
- 16. The two pieces of subsidiary legislation are in conformity with the Basic Law, including the provisions concerning human rights. The proposed amendments will not affect the current binding effect of the Banking Ordinance.

# **PUBLIC CONSULTATION**

- 17. At the meeting of the Legislative Council Panel on Financial Affairs on 23 May 2016, HKMA briefed members on the key features of BDAR 2016.
- 18. HKMA has engaged the banking industry in formulating the proposals contained in the BDAR 2016 through a consultation initiated in December 2015. In addition, in accordance with section 60A of the Banking Ordinance, the MA issued a draft of the relevant provisions to consult the Financial Secretary, the Banking Advisory Committee, the Deposit-taking Companies Advisory Committee, the Hong Kong Association of Banks, and the Hong Kong Association of Restricted Licence Banks and Deposit-taking Companies in October 2016. General support was received for the amendments. Relevant technical or drafting comments have been addressed in the finalised rules as appropriate, and the intents of certain provisions have been clarified.
- 19. In respect of the Amendment Notice, HKMA consulted the

banking industry in November 2016 and received responses indicating general support for the amendment.

## **PUBLICITY**

20. We will issue a press release upon the issuance of this Legislative Council brief. HKMA will also issue a circular letter to all AIs.

# **ENQUIRIES**

21. Enquiries should be directed to Ms Eureka Cheung, Principal Assistant Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury (Financial Services), at 2810 2067, or to the following officers of HKMA: (i) Mr. Richard Chu, Head (Banking Policy), at 2878 8276 for matters concerning the BDAR 2016; and (ii) Mr. Thomas Wong, Acting Head (Banking Policy), at 2878 1219 for matters concerning the Amendment Notice.

Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau Hong Kong Monetary Authority 28 December 2016

# Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

# Contents

Section	Page
1.	Commencement1
2.	Banking (Disclosure) Rules amended
3.	Section 2 amended (interpretation)
4.	Section 3 amended (application)
5.	Section 4 amended (references to authorized institution in
	Part 2)
6.	Section 5 amended (disclosure policy)
7.	Section 6 amended (medium and location of disclosure and
	issue of press release)
8.	Section 7 repealed (interaction of other requirements)
9.	Section 8 amended (verification)
10.	Section 11 amended (consolidated group level disclosures)
11.	Section 12 amended (basis of disclosure)
12.	Section 13 repealed (comparative information)
13.	Section 14 substituted
	14. Frequency
14.	Section 15 amended (group-wide disclosures made by parent
	bank of authorized institution)

# Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

Section		Page
15.	Parts 2A a	nd 2B added
		Part 2A
	Speci	fic Disclosures to be Made by Authorized Institutions
		Incorporated in Hong Kong
		Division 1—Preliminary
	16A.	References to authorized institution in Part 2A
	Division	n 2—Overview of Risk Management and Risk-weighted
		Amount
101	16B.	Overview of risk management—annual
		disclosures
	16C.	Overview of risk-weighted amount—quarterly
	#•	disclosures
	Divi	sion 3—Linkages between Financial Statements and
		Regulatory Exposures
	16D.	Differences between accounting and regulatory
		scopes of consolidation and mapping of financial
		statement categories with regulatory risk
		categories—annual disclosures
	16E.	Main sources of differences between regulatory
		exposure amounts and carrying values in
		financial statements—annual disclosures
	16F.	Explanations of differences between accounting

and regulatory exposure amounts-annual

		a <sup>*</sup>	
Section			Page
		disclosures	20
	Div	ision 4—Credit Risk for Non-securitization Exposur	res
	16G.	General information about credit risk—annual disclosures	20
	16H.	Credit quality of exposures—semi-annual disclosures	20
	16I.	Changes in defaulted loans and debt securities— semi-annual disclosures	8
	16J.	Additional disclosures related to credit quality of exposures—annual disclosures	21
	16K.	Qualitative disclosures related to credit risk mitigation—annual disclosures	21
	16L.	Overview of recognized credit risk mitigation—semi-annual disclosures	21
	16M.	Qualitative disclosures on use of ECAI ratings under STC approach—annual disclosures	22
œ	16N.	STC approach or BSC approach: credit risk exposures and effects of recognized credit risk	-
	160.	mitigation—semi-annual disclosures  STC approach or BSC approach: credit risk exposures by asset classes and by risk-weights—	22
		semi-annual disclosures	23
	16P.	Qualitative disclosures related to internal models	

		<u>iv</u>
16		
ection		Page
		for measuring credit risk under IRB approach— annual disclosures
16	6Q.	IRB approach: credit risk exposures by portfolio and PD ranges—semi-annual disclosures
16		IRB approach: effects on risk-weighted amount of recognized credit derivative contracts used as recognized credit risk mitigation—semi-annual disclosures
16	į	Risk-weighted amount flow statements of credit risk exposures under IRB approach—quarterly disclosures
16		IRB approach: back-testing of PD per portfolio—annual disclosures
10		IRB approach: specialized lending under supervisory slotting criteria approach and equities under simple risk-weight method—semi-annual disclosures
		Division 5—Counterparty Credit Risk
10		Qualitative disclosures related to counterparty credit risk (including those arising from clearing through CCPs)—annual disclosures

Analysis of counterparty default risk exposures, other than those to CCPs, by approaches—semi-

16W.

		V	Me tots.		Vi
Section		Page	Section		Page
	<i>\$</i> 0	annual disclosures		annual disclosures	31
	16X.	CVA capital charge—semi-annual disclosures 27	16ZG.	Securitization exposures in trading book—semi-	
	16Y.	STC approach or BSC approach: counterparty		annual disclosures	31
		default risk exposures, other than those to CCPs,	16ZH.	Securitization exposures in banking book and	
		by asset classes and by risk-weights-semi-		associated capital requirements, where	
		annual disclosures		authorized institution acts as originator-semi-	
	16Z.	IRB approach: counterparty default risk		annual disclosures	32
		exposures, other than those to CCPs, by portfolio	16ZI.	Securitization exposures in banking book and	
		and PD scale—semi-annual disclosures		associated capital requirements, where	
	16ZA.	Composition of collateral for counterparty	24	authorized institution acts as investor-semi-	
•)		default risk exposures (including those for		annual disclosures	32
		contracts or transactions cleared through		Division 7—Market Risk	
		CCPs)—semi-annual disclosures	16ZJ.	Qualitative disclosures related to market risk-	
	16ZB.	Credit-related derivative contracts—semi-annual		annual disclosures	33
		disclosures	16ZK.	Additional qualitative disclosures for authorized	
	16ZC.	Risk-weighted amount flow statements of default		institution using IMM approach—annual	
		risk exposures under IMM(CCR) approach—		disclosures	33
		quarterly disclosures	16ZL.	Market risk under STM approach—semi-annual	
	16ZD.	Exposures to CCPs—semi-annual disclosures 30		disclosures	34
	.2	Division 6—Securitization Exposures	16ZM.	Risk-weighted amount flow statements of market	
	16ZE.	Qualitative disclosures related to securitization		risk exposures under IMM approach—quarterly	
		exposures—annual disclosures	* *	disclosures	34
	16ZF.	Securitization exposures in banking book—semi-	16ZN.	IMM approach values for market risk	

		¥	9 8	
Section		Till the state of	Page	
	8	exposures—semi-annual disclosures	34	
	16ZO.	Comparison of VaR estimates with	gains or	
		losses—semi-annual disclosures	35	
		Part 2B	40	
	Addi	tional Quarterly Disclosures to be Made	by Authorized	
		Institutions Incorporated in Hong	Kong	
	16ZP.	References to authorized institution in P	art 2B 36	
	16ZQ.	Key capital ratios disclosures	36	
16.	Part 3 he	eading amended (interim financial disclosu	ires to be	
	made by	authorized institutions incorporated in Hor	g Kong)37	
17.	Section 1	7 substituted	37	
	17.	References to authorized institution in F	'art 338	
18.	Sections	19 to 22 repealed	38	
19.	Section 2	24 amended (capital disclosures)	38	
20.	Section 2	24A amended (leverage ratio disclosures)	40	
21.	Section	24B amended (countercyclical capital bu	iffer ratio	
	disclosur	res)	41	
22.	Section 2	28 substituted	42	
	28.	Mainland activities	42	
23.	Section 2	29 amended (currency risk)	42	
24.	Part 3A	heading added	43	

Banking	(Disclosure)	(Amendment)	Rules 2010
---------	--------------	-------------	------------

		æ
Section		Page
	Part 3A	
	Interim Disclosures to be Made by Authorized Institution	IS
	Incorporated in Hong Kong	
25.	Sections 29A and 29B added	43
	29A. References to authorized institution in Part 3A	43
	29B. Interim financial disclosures	44
26.	Part 4 heading amended (annual financial disclosures to be	
	made by authorized institutions incorporated in Hong Kong)	44
27.	Section 31 amended (references to authorized institution in	
	Part 4)	44
28.	Sections 32, 33 and 34 repealed	44
29.	Section 35 substituted	44
	35. Annual financial disclosures	45
30.	Sections 36 to 43 repealed	45
31.	Sections 45, 45A and 45B repealed	45
32.	Section 45C amended (disclosure requirements for G-SIBs)	45
33.	Section 46 amended (general disclosures)	46
34.	Section 47 substituted	46
	47. Sector information	47
35.	Sections 48, 49 and 50 repealed	47
36.	Sections 51C and 51D added	4′

Section			Page
	51C.	Operational risk	47
	51D.	Interest rate exposures in banking book	47
37.	authorized	ealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by institution using STC approach to calculate its for non-securitization exposures)	48
38.	authorized	ealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by institution using BSC approach to calculate its for non-securitization exposures)	48
39.	authorized	ealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by institution using IRB approach to calculate its for non-securitization exposures)	48
40.		amended (references to authorized institution, etc.	49
41.	Section 92 92A.	A added  Interpretation of Division 3	
42.		6 amended (provisions supplementary to section tive transactions)	51
43.	Section 10	1 substituted	No.

# Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

(Made by the Monetary Authority under section 60A of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) after consultation with the Financial Secretary, the Banking Advisory Committee, the Deposit-taking Companies Advisory Committee, The Hong Kong Association of Banks and The Hong Kong Association of Restricted Licence Banks and Deposit-taking Companies)

### 1. Commencement

These Rules come into operation on 31 March 2017.

### 2. Banking (Disclosure) Rules amended

The Banking (Disclosure) Rules (Cap. 155 sub. leg. M) are amended as set out in sections 3 to 43.

## 3. Section 2 amended (interpretation)

(1) Section 2(1)—

# Repeal the definition of annual reporting period Substitute

"annual reporting period (周年報告期), in relation to an authorized institution, means a financial year of the institution;".

# (2) Section 2(1)—

# Repeal the definition of interim reporting period Substitute

- "interim reporting period (中期報告期), in relation to an authorized institution, means the first 6 months of a financial year of the institution;".
- (3) Section 2(1), definition of *off-balance sheet exposures*, before "means"—

	-	-
Δ	d	

", in relation to leverage ratio,".

Section 2(1), definition of on-balance sheet exposures, before "means"-

### Add

", in relation to leverage ratio,".

Section 2(1)—

# Repeal the definition of reporting period Substitute

"reporting period (報告期) means—

- (a) an annual reporting period;
- a semi-annual reporting period;
- a quarterly reporting period; or
- (d) an interim reporting period;".
- Section 2(1), Chinese text, definition of 槓桿比率模版— Repeal the semicolon

Substitute a full stop.

- Section 2(1)
  - definition of active market:
  - definition of applicable JCCyB ratio;
  - definition of associate:
  - definition of available-for-sale;
  - definition of capital conservation buffer ratio;
  - definition of cash and balances with banks;
  - definition of countercyclical capital buffer ratio: (g)
  - definition of deposits and balances from banks;

- definition of derivative exposures;
- definition of effective interest method;
- definition of effective interest rate;
- definition of exchange rate-related derivative contract;
- definition of exposure type;
- definition of financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss;
- definition of general wrong-way risk;
- definition of *G-SIB*;
- definition of held-to-maturity investments;
- definition of higher loss absorbency ratio;
- definition of Hong Kong Internet website;
- definition of interest rate derivative contract;
- definition of investment property;
- definition of loans and receivables;
- definition of premises and equipment expense:
- definition of private sector credit exposures;
- definition of *protection provider*;
- definition of securities financing transaction exposures;
- definition of specific wrong-way risk;
- definition of surplus provisions;
- definition of swap deposit arrangement—

Repeal the definitions.

Section 2(1)—

Add in alphabetical order

"quarterly reporting period (季度報告期), in relation to an authorized institution, means the first, second, third or fourth 3-month period of a financial year of the institution;

semi-annual reporting period (半年度報告期), in relation to an authorized institution, means the first or second 6-month period of a financial year of the institution;".

# 4. Section 3 amended (application)

(1) Section 3—

Repeal subsections (1) and (2)

### Substitute

- "(1) Subject to section 12, the following provisions apply to an authorized institution incorporated in Hong Kong unless it is exempted under subsection (7) or (14A)—
  - (a) Part 2;
  - (b) provisions of Part 2A requiring disclosures for each annual reporting period;
  - (c) the following provisions, in so far as they relate to a quarterly or semi-annual reporting period (as the case requires) that ends at the close of an annual reporting period—
    - provisions of Part 2A requiring disclosures for each quarterly or semi-annual reporting period;
    - (ii) Part 2B;
    - (iii) Part 3;
  - (d) Part 4.

(2) Subject to section 12, the following provisions apply to an authorized institution incorporated in Hong Kong unless it is exempted under subsection (8) or (14A)—

- (a) the following provisions, in so far as they relate to a quarterly or semi-annual reporting period (as the case requires) that ends otherwise than at the close of an annual reporting period—
  - provisions of Part 2A requiring disclosures for each quarterly or semi-annual reporting period;

5

- (ii) Part 2B;
- (iii) Part 3;
- (b) Part 3A.".
- (2) Section 3—

Section 4

Repeal subsections (3), (4) and (5).

(3) Section 3(6), after "subsection (9)"—

Add

"or (14A)".

(4) Section 3(7)—

### Repeal

"For the purposes of subsection (1), the"

### Substitute

"The".

(5) Section 3(7)—

### Repeal

"Parts 2 and 4"

#### Substitute

"the provisions specified in subsection (1)(a), (b), (c) and (d)".

6

(6) Section 3(8)—

### Repeal

"For the purposes of subsection (2), the"

### Substitute

"The".

(7) Section 3(8)—

### Repeal

"Part 3"

### Substitute

"the provisions specified in subsection (2)(a) and (b)".

Section 3(8)—

### Repeal paragraph (a)

### Substitute

- "(a) the institution is exempted under subsection (7) from the application of the provisions specified in subsection (1)(a), (b), (c) and (d); or".
- (9) After section 3(14)—

### Add

- "(14A) The Monetary Authority may, by notice in writing given to an authorized institution, exempt the institution from the application of these Rules if the Monetary Authority is satisfied that the institution has not commenced business.
- (14B) If the Monetary Authority is satisfied that an authorized institution which is exempted under subsection (14A) has commenced business, the Monetary Authority may, by notice in writing given to the institution, inform the institution that it ceases to be so exempted from the date specified in the notice.".

Section 4 amended (references to authorized institution in Part 5. 2)

Section 4—

### Repeal

"which falls within"

### Substitute

"to which this Part applies under".

Section 5 amended (disclosure policy) 6.

Section 5-

Repeal everything before paragraph (a)

### Substitute

"An authorized institution must have in place, within 6 months after the date on which it became an authorized institution or such longer period as the Monetary Authority may specify, a clearly documented disclosure policy-".

- Section 6 amended (medium and location of disclosure and 7. issue of press release)
  - (1) Section 6, heading-

Repeal

"Medium and location"

Substitute

"Medium, location and timing".

Section 6(1)—

### Repeal

everything before "authorized"

Substitute

- "(1) Subject to section 24(5) and (6), if an".
- (3) Section 6(1), English text—

### Repeal

"shall"

#### Substitute

"must".

(4) Section 6(1)(a)—

### Repeal

everything after "preparing"

#### Substitute

- ", in the Chinese and English languages, a disclosure statement—
- (i) that, subject to subsection (1A) and section 15, is in the form exclusively of a standalone document or a discrete section of the institution's financial statements; and
- (ii) in which the information required to be disclosed is readily identifiable;".
- (5) Section 6(1)—

# Repeal paragraph (ab)

#### Substitute

- "(ab) subject to subsection (1A) and section 15, presenting the information required to be disclosed in the format, and using the standard disclosure templates, specified by the Monetary Authority; and".
- (6) Section 6(1)—

# Repeal paragraph (b).

(7) After section 6(1)—

### Add

Section 7

"(1A) If it is so permitted by the Monetary Authority in specification under subsection (1)(ab) and if all the conditions specified in subsection (1B) are met, any part of the information required to be disclosed may be contained in a separate document that is signposted in the standalone document or the discrete section of the authorized institution's financial statements (discrete section).

### (1B) The conditions are—

- (a) that the authorized institution signposts clearly, in the standalone document or the discrete section, the location where the information published elsewhere is published, providing, at a minimum, the following information—
  - a reference to the format and templates specified by the Monetary Authority to which the signposting relates;

9

- (ii) the full title of the separate document in which the information is published;
- (iii) a link to the relevant section of the institution's website where the separate document can be accessed (if applicable); and
- (iv) the page and paragraph number of the separate document where the information is located; and
- (b) that the level of assurance on the reliability of data in the separate document is equivalent to, or greater than, the internal assurance level required for the information presented in the standalone document or the discrete section.

- (1C) For disclosures under Part 2A or 2B for a quarterly reporting period that ends otherwise than at the close of an interim or annual reporting period, the authorized institution must publish the disclosure statement—
  - (a) if the authorized institution publishes its quarterly financial statements for the quarterly reporting period (quarterly financial statements) within 8 weeks after the end of the quarterly reporting period—concurrently with the publication of the quarterly financial statements; or
  - (b) if the authorized institution does not publish the quarterly financial statements within 8 weeks after the end of the quarterly reporting period—within that 8-week period.
- (1D) For disclosures under Part 2A, 2B, 3 or 3A for a reporting period that is, or ends at the close of, an interim reporting period, the authorized institution must publish the disclosure statement—
  - (a) if the authorized institution publishes its interim financial statements for the interim reporting period (interim financial statements) within 3 months after the end of the quarterly, semi-annual or interim reporting period to which the disclosure statement relates (specified reporting period)—concurrently with the publication of the interim financial statements; or
  - (b) if the authorized institution does not publish the interim financial statements within 3 months after the end of the specified reporting period—within that 3-month period.
- (1E) For disclosures under Part 2A, 2B, 3 or 4 for a reporting period that is, or ends at the close of, an annual reporting

period, the authorized institution must publish the disclosure statement—

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

- (a) if the authorized institution publishes its annual financial statements for the annual reporting period (annual financial statements) within 4 months after the end of the quarterly, semi-annual or annual reporting period to which the disclosure statement relates (specified reporting period)—concurrently with the publication of the annual financial statements; or
- (b) if the authorized institution does not publish the annual financial statements within 4 months after the end of the specified reporting period—within that 4-month period.".

### (8) Section 6—

# Repeal subsection (3)

#### Substitute

- "(3) An authorized institution must ensure that when its disclosure statement is published—
  - (a) the statement contains all the disclosures required under these Rules to be made by the institution for the reporting periods to which the statement relates; and
  - (b) the disclosures referred to in paragraph (a) are not false or misleading in any material respect.
- (3A) An authorized institution must ensure that when its disclosure statement for an annual reporting period is published, the statement—
  - (a) describes the key elements of its disclosure policy referred to in section 5; or

(b) provides a cross-reference to another location where the description referred to in paragraph (a) is readily accessible by the general public.".

### (9) Section 6---

### Repeal subsection (4)

#### Substitute

"(4) At the same time as an authorized institution publishes its disclosure statement for any reporting period that is, or ends at the close of, either an interim or annual reporting period, the institution must issue a press release to the press in Hong Kong, in the Chinese and English languages, containing the statement or consisting of the statement."

### (10) Section 6(7)—

### Repeal

"subsections (8) and (9)"

### Substitute

"subsection (8)".

(11) Section 6—

### Repeal subsection (8)

#### Substitute

"(8) Subject to sections 24(4) and (5), 24A(5), 30(2) and 51(2), if an authorized institution publishes a disclosure statement containing the disclosures referred to in subsection (3)(a), it must ensure that the statement is available for inspection under subsection (7) for at least 12 months beginning on the date of publication of the statement."

### (12) Section 6—

### Repeal subsections (9) and (10).

(13) Section 6—

### Repeal subsection (10A)

#### Substitute

- "(10A) Subject to sections 24(4), 24A(5), 30(2) and 51(2), an authorized institution—
  - (a) must establish and maintain an archive of all disclosure statements relating to reporting periods ending on or after 30 June 2013; and

13

- (b) unless otherwise approved by the Monetary Authority, must establish and maintain the archive on the institution's website."
- (14) Section 6—

Repeal subsection (11).

8. Section 7 repealed (interaction of other requirements)

Section 7-

Repeal the section.

- 9. Section 8 amended (verification)
  - (1) Section 8(1), before "senior management"—

#### Add

"board of directors (or a committee designated by the board) and the".

(2) After section 8(2)—

#### Add

"(3) An authorized institution must ensure that one or more members of the senior management of the institution attest in writing that the disclosures made by the institution pursuant to these Rules have been prepared in accordance with the internal review and internal control processes approved by the institution's board of directors.

The internal review and internal control processes applied to the information disclosed by an authorized institution under these Rules for a reporting period that is, or ends at the close of, an interim or annual reporting period must be no less stringent than those applied to the information provided by the institution within the management discussion and analysis part of its financial statements.".

#### Section 11 amended (consolidated group level disclosures) 10.

(1) Section 11(4)—

Repeal paragraphs (a), (b) and (c)

#### Substitute

- "(a) sections 23, 25, 26, 27, 28 and 29;
- sections 29B, 30, 30A and 30B; or
- (c) sections 35, 44, 46, 47, 51, 51A, 51B and 52.".
- Section 11(4)—

Repeal paragraph (d).

(3) Section 11(5)—

### Repeal

"subsection (4)(a), (b), (c) and (d) shall"

#### Substitute

"subsection (4)(a), (b) and (c) must".

Section 11(6)—

# Repeal

Section 11

"49, 50 and 51 shall"

#### Substitute

"30A, 30B, 51, 51A and 51B must".

#### 11. Section 12 amended (basis of disclosure)

Section 12—

Renumber the section as section 12(1).

After section 12(1)—

### Add

- If an authorized institution is exempted, under the Capital Rules, from the requirement to calculate its capital requirements or capital charge for its credit risk, market risk or operational risk (as the case requires), the institution—
  - (a) is not required to make disclosures pertaining to the approach: but

15

must instead disclose that fact.".

#### Section 13 repealed (comparative information) **12.**

Section 13-

Repeal the section.

#### 13. Section 14 substituted

Section 14-

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "14. Frequency

- (1) An authorized institution must make disclosures pursuant to Part 2A for each annual, semi-annual and quarterly reporting period, as that Part requires.
- (2) An authorized institution must make disclosures pursuant to Part 2B for each quarterly reporting period.
- (3) Subject to section 24(6), an authorized institution must make disclosures pursuant to Part 3 for each semi-annual reporting period.
- (4) An authorized institution must make disclosures pursuant to Part 3A for each interim reporting period.
- (5) An authorized institution must make disclosures pursuant to Part 4 for each annual reporting period.".

# 14. Section 15 amended (group-wide disclosures made by parent bank of authorized institution)

Section 15(g)-

### Repeal

everything after "has"

### Substitute

"an Internet website (or section of an Internet website) which—

- (i) is specifically intended to be accessible by the general public in Hong Kong; and
- (ii) contains a link to the section of the parent bank's Internet website setting out the foreign disclosures as referred to in paragraph (f).".

### 15. Parts 2A and 2B added

After Part 2-

Add

Section 15

# "Part 2A

# Specific Disclosures to be Made by Authorized Institutions Incorporated in Hong Kong

# Division 1—Preliminary

### 16A. References to authorized institution in Part 2A

Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to an authorized institution in a provision of this Part—

- (a) requiring—
  - (i) disclosures for an annual reporting period; or
  - (ii) disclosures for a quarterly or semi-annual reporting period, in so far as the provision relates to such a period that ends at the close of an annual reporting period,

is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(1); and

(b) requiring disclosures for a quarterly or semi-annual reporting period, in so far as the provision relates to such a period that ends otherwise than at the close of an annual reporting period, is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(2).

# Division 2—Overview of Risk Management and Riskweighted Amount

### 16B. Overview of risk management—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, a description of—

- (a) its risk management objectives and policies; and
- (b) how the board of directors and senior management of the institution assess and manage risks,

that is necessary and relevant for understanding its risk tolerance or appetite in relation to its main activities and all significant risks inherent in or associated with those activities.

# 16C. Overview of risk-weighted amount—quarterly disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each quarterly reporting period—

- (a) an overview of its capital requirements by providing a detailed breakdown of its—
  - (i) risk-weighted amount for credit risk;
  - (ii) risk-weighted amount for market risk; and
  - (iii) risk-weighted amount for operational risk; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the quarterly reporting period.

# Division 3—Linkages between Financial Statements and Regulatory Exposures

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

- 16D. Differences between accounting and regulatory scopes of consolidation and mapping of financial statement categories with regulatory risk categories—annual disclosures
  - (1) An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, information on its assets and liabilities that is necessary and relevant for identifying the differences between—
    - (a) the scope of accounting consolidation applicable to the institution; and
    - (b) the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution.
  - (2) The disclosure under subsection (1) must include a breakdown into regulatory risk categories of every item of the assets and liabilities reported in the institution's financial statements based on the scope of accounting consolidation applicable to the institution.

# 16E. Main sources of differences between regulatory exposure amounts and carrying values in financial statements—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, information on the main sources of differences between—

- (a) the carrying value amounts in its financial statements; and
- (b) the exposure amounts used to calculate its capital requirements,

in respect of its assets and liabilities based on the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution.

# 16F. Explanations of differences between accounting and regulatory exposure amounts—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, qualitative explanations of the differences disclosed under sections 16D and 16E.

# Division 4—Credit Risk for Non-securitization Exposures

### 16G. General information about credit risk—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, the main characteristics and elements of its credit risk management, including—

- (a) its business model;
- (b) its credit risk profile; and
- (c) its organization and functions involved in credit risk management and risk management reporting.

### 16H. Credit quality of exposures—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period, an overview of the credit quality of its onbalance sheet exposures and off-balance sheet exposures.

### 16I. Changes in defaulted loans and debt securities—semiannual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

(a) the changes in its defaulted loans and debt securities, including—

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

- (i) any changes in the amounts of defaulted exposures;
- (ii) any movement between defaulted and nondefaulted exposures; and
- (iii) any reductions in the defaulted exposures due to write-offs; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16J. Additional disclosures related to credit quality of exposures—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, additional qualitative and quantitative information on the credit quality of its exposures to supplement the information disclosed under sections 16H and 16I.

# 16K. Qualitative disclosures related to credit risk mitigation—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, qualitative information on its policies and processes relating to the use of credit risk mitigation.

### 16L. Overview of recognized credit risk mitigation—semiannual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

22

- (a) the extent of credit risk exposures covered by different types of recognized credit risk mitigation; and
- an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16M. Qualitative disclosures on use of ECAI ratings under STC approach—annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the STC approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each annual reporting period, information on-

- (a) the process it adopts for using ECAI ratings; and
- (b) the extent to which the ratings are used for its riskweighted amount calculation.

# 16N. STC approach or BSC approach: credit risk exposures and effects of recognized credit risk mitigation-semiannual disclosures

An authorized institution using the STC approach or the BSC approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semiannual reporting period-

(a) the effects of any recognized credit risk mitigation (including recognized collateral based on the comprehensive approach or the simple approach or both) on the calculation of its capital requirements under the STC approach or the BSC approach (as the case requires); and

an explanation of any material changes in the effects referred to in paragraph (a) during the semiannual reporting period.

# STC approach or BSC approach: credit risk exposures by asset classes and by risk-weights-semi-annual disclosures

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

An authorized institution using the STC approach or the BSC approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semiannual reporting period-

- (a) a breakdown of credit risk exposures by asset classes and by risk-weights corresponding to the categorization of exposures according to the STC approach or the BSC approach (as the case requires); and
- an explanation of any material changes in the exposures referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

## Qualitative disclosures related to internal models for measuring credit risk under IRB approach-annual disclosures

- An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for nonsecuritization exposures must disclose, for each annual reporting period
  - additional information on its internal models used to calculate the risk-weighted amount for credit risk, describing the main characteristics of the models used at the group-wide level (according to the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution); and

- (b) an explanation of how the scope of the models described is determined.
- (2) The disclosures must include the percentage of risk-weighted amounts covered by the models for each of the institution's regulatory portfolios.

# 16Q. IRB approach: credit risk exposures by portfolio and PD ranges—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period, the main parameters of its internal models used for the calculation of capital requirements.

# 16R. IRB approach: effects on risk-weighted amount of recognized credit derivative contracts used as recognized credit risk mitigation—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) the effects of recognized credit derivative contracts on the calculation of its risk-weighted amounts under the IRB approach; and
- (b) an explanation of the effects referred to in paragraph (a).

# 16S. Risk-weighted amount flow statements of credit risk exposures under IRB approach—quarterly disclosures

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each quarterly reporting period—

- (a) a flow statement explaining changes in the riskweighted amount for credit risk determined under the IRB approach; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the riskweighted amount referred to in paragraph (a) during the quarterly reporting period.

# 16T. IRB approach: back-testing of PD per portfolio—annual disclosures

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each annual reporting period—

- (a) back-testing data to validate the reliability of PD calculations, including a comparison of the PD used to calculate capital requirements with the effective default rates of the obligors; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the annual reporting period.

# 16U. IRB approach: specialized lending under supervisory slotting criteria approach and equities under simple risk-weight method—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

(a) quantitative information in respect of its specialized lending under the supervisory slotting criteria approach and its equity exposures for which it uses the simple risk-weight method; and (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# Division 5—Counterparty Credit Risk

# 16V. Qualitative disclosures related to counterparty credit risk (including those arising from clearing through CCPs)—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period—

- (a) a description of its counterparty credit risk management objectives and policies, including those related to—
  - (i) the setting of operating limits;
  - (ii) the use of guarantees and other forms of credit risk mitigation;
  - (iii) the risk that arises when the probability of default of counterparties is positively correlated with general market risk factors; and
  - (iv) the specific wrong-way risk as defined by section 226A of the Capital Rules; and
- (b) the impact on the institution in terms of the amount of collateral that it would have to provide if there were a downgrade in its credit rating.

16W. Analysis of counterparty default risk exposures, other than those to CCPs, by approaches—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

(a) a breakdown of default risk exposures (other than those to CCPs), risk-weighted amounts and, where applicable, main parameters used, under the approaches used by the institution to calculate its default risk exposures in respect of derivative contracts and SFTs; and

27

(b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

### 16X. CVA capital charge—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) information on the portfolios subject to the CVA capital charge and the CVA calculations based on the approach the institution uses to calculate the CVA capital charge; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16Y. STC approach or BSC approach: counterparty default risk exposures, other than those to CCPs, by asset classes and by risk-weights—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the STC approach or the BSC approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for

non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semiannual reporting period—

- (a) a breakdown of default risk exposures (other than those to CCPs) by asset classes and by risk-weights in respect of derivative contracts and SFTs, irrespective of the approach used to determine the amount of default risk exposures; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the exposures referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16Z. IRB approach: counterparty default risk exposures, other than those to CCPs, by portfolio and PD scale—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IRB approach to calculate its credit risk capital requirements for non-securitization exposures must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) all relevant parameters used for the calculation of counterparty default risk capital requirements (other than those arising from exposures to CCPs);
- (b) (if it uses the foundation IRB approach for certain exposures and the advanced IRB approach for other exposures) 2 separate sets of portfolio breakdown by the 2 approaches;
- (c) the key models used at the group-wide level for the calculation of counterparty credit risk exposures (other than those to CCPs) according to the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution and an explanation of how the scope of the models is determined, including the percentage

of risk-weighted amounts covered by each of the models for each portfolio; and

29

(d) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in each of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16ZA. Composition of collateral for counterparty default risk exposures (including those for contracts or transactions cleared through CCPs)—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) a breakdown of all types of collateral posted by the institution to support, or recognized collateral received by the institution to reduce, the counterparty default risk exposures in respect of derivative contracts or SFTs, including contracts or transactions cleared through a CCP; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16ZB. Credit-related derivative contracts—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) the amount of its credit-related derivative contracts, broken down into credit protection bought and credit protection sold; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16ZC. Risk-weighted amount flow statements of default risk exposures under IMM(CCR) approach—quarterly disclosures

An authorized institution using the IMM(CCR) approach to calculate its default risk exposures in respect of derivative contracts or SFTs must disclose, for each quarterly reporting period—

- (a) a flow statement explaining changes in the riskweighted amount for default risk exposures determined under the IMM(CCR) approach; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the riskweighted amount referred to in paragraph (a) during the quarterly reporting period.

### 16ZD. Exposures to CCPs—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) a breakdown of its exposures to both qualifying and non-qualifying CCPs and the respective riskweighted amounts, including—
  - (i) default risk exposures to the CCPs; and
  - (ii) credit risk exposures arising from initial margins posted, and default fund contributions made, to the CCPs; and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# Division 6—Securitization Exposures

# 16ZE. Qualitative disclosures related to securitization exposures—annual disclosures

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, qualitative information on its strategy and risk management with respect to its securitization activities.

# 16ZF. Securitization exposures in banking book—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) a breakdown of its securitization exposures in the banking book (regardless of whether the exposures arise from securitization transactions that satisfy all the requirements in Schedule 9 or 10 (as the case requires) to the Capital Rules); and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the exposures referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

# 16ZG. Securitization exposures in trading book—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

(a) a breakdown of its securitization exposures in the trading book (regardless of whether the exposures arise from securitization transactions that satisfy all the requirements in Schedule 9 or 10 (as the case requires) to the Capital Rules); and

- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the exposures referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.
- 16ZH. Securitization exposures in banking book and associated capital requirements, where authorized institution acts as originator—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) a breakdown of-
  - (i) its securitization exposures in the banking book arising from securitization transactions—
    - (A) of which the institution is an originating institution; and
    - (B) that satisfy all the requirements in Schedule 9 or 10 (as the case requires) to the Capital Rules; and
  - (ii) the associated capital requirements of the exposures referred to in subparagraph (i); and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.
- 16ZI. Securitization exposures in banking book and associated capital requirements, where authorized institution acts as investor—semi-annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

(a) a breakdown of—

- its securitization exposures in the banking book arising from securitization transactions of which the institution is an investing institution; and
- (ii) the associated capital requirements of the exposures referred to in subparagraph (i); and
- (b) an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

### Division 7—Market Risk

# 16ZJ. Qualitative disclosures related to market risk—annual disclosures

An authorized institution must disclose, for each annual reporting period, a description of its market risk management objectives and policies.

# 16ZK. Additional qualitative disclosures for authorized institution using IMM approach—annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IMM approach to calculate its market risk capital requirements must disclose, for each annual reporting period—

- (a) the scope and the main characteristics of the different models used for calculating the market risk capital requirements; and
- (b) the key modelling choices adopted in respect of the models.

#### 16ZL. under STM approach-semi-annual Market risk disclosures

An authorized institution using the STM approach to calculate its market risk capital requirements must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period-

- (a) the components of its market risk capital requirements calculated using the STM approach; and
- an explanation of any material changes in the components referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

### 16ZM. Risk-weighted amount flow statements of market risk exposures under IMM approach—quarterly disclosures

An authorized institution using the IMM approach to calculate its market risk capital requirements must disclose, for each quarterly reporting period-

- (a) a flow statement explaining changes in the riskweighted amount for market risk determined under the IMM approach; and
- an explanation of any material changes in the riskweighted amount referred to in paragraph (a) during the quarterly reporting period.

## 16ZN. IMM approach values for market risk exposures—semiannual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IMM approach to calculate its market risk capital requirements must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period-

(a) the maximum, minimum, average and period-end values for the reporting period resulting from the different models used for calculating the market risk capital requirements at the group-wide level (according to the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution); and

an explanation of any material changes in the matters referred to in paragraph (a) during the semi-annual reporting period.

#### Comparison of VaR estimates with gains or losses-semi-16ZO. annual disclosures

An authorized institution using the IMM approach to calculate its market risk capital requirements must disclose, for each semi-annual reporting period—

- (a) a comparison of the results of estimates from the key VaR model used for calculating the market risk capital requirements with both hypothetical and actual trading outcomes
  - to highlight the frequency and the extent of the back-testing exceptions; and
  - to give an analysis of the main outliers in back-tested results; and
- without limiting paragraph (a)
  - the VaR model referred to in paragraph (a) used at the group-wide level (according to the scope of regulatory consolidation applicable to the institution); and
  - an explanation of the extent of their coverage at the group-wide level.

35

### Part 2B

# Additional Quarterly Disclosures to be Made by Authorized Institutions Incorporated in Hong Kong

### 16ZP. References to authorized institution in Part 2B

Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to an authorized institution in a provision of this Part—

- (a) in so far as the provision relates to a quarterly reporting period that ends at the close of an annual reporting period, is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(1); and
- (b) in so far as the provision relates to a quarterly reporting period that ends otherwise than at the close of an annual reporting period, is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(2).

# 16ZQ. Key capital ratios disclosures

- (1) If an authorized institution is required under section 3C of the Capital Rules to calculate its capital adequacy ratio on a consolidated basis, the institution must disclose each of the following calculated on that basis—
  - (a) its CET1 capital ratio;
  - (b) its Tier 1 capital ratio;
  - (c) its Total capital ratio;
  - (d) its leverage ratio;

- (e) the numerator and the denominator used for calculating each of the ratios set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d).
- (2) If subsection (1) does not apply to an authorized institution, the institution must disclose the following calculated on a solo basis or solo-consolidated basis, as the case requires—

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

- (a) its CET1 capital ratio;
- (b) its Tier I capital ratio;
- (c) its Total capital ratio;
- (d) its leverage ratio;
- (e) the numerator and the denominator used for calculating each of the ratios set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d).".
- 16. Part 3 heading amended (interim financial disclosures to be made by authorized institutions incorporated in Hong Kong)

Part 3, heading—

Repeal

"Interim Financial"

Substitute

"Additional Semi-annual".

17. Section 17 substituted

Section 17—

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "17. References to authorized institution in Part 3

Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to an authorized institution in a provision of this Part—

- (a) in so far as the provision relates to a semi-annual reporting period that ends at the close of an annual reporting period, is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(1); and
- (b) in so far as the provision relates to a semi-annual reporting period that ends otherwise than at the close of an annual reporting period, is a reference to an authorized institution to which the provision applies under section 3(2)."

### 18. Sections 19 to 22 repealed

Sections 19, 20, 21 and 22-

Repeal the sections.

# 19. Section 24 amended (capital disclosures)

(1) Section 24(1)—

# Repeal everything before paragraph (a)

#### Substitute

- "(1) An authorized institution must disclose the following information regarding its capital base prepared on the specified basis—".
- (2) After section 24(1)—

Add

"(1A) In subsection (1)—

specified basis (指明基礎), in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period, means—

(a) if a period for which a return relating to capital adequacy is submitted by the authorized institution pursuant to section 63 of the Ordinance ends at the close of the semi-annual reporting period—the basis on which the return is prepared; or

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

- (b) had a period for which such a return is required to be submitted by the institution pursuant to that section 63 ended at the close of the semi-annual reporting period—the basis on which the return would have been required to be prepared."
- (3) Section 24(3)—

### Repeal

Section 19

"interim" (wherever appearing).

(4) After section 24(3)—

#### Add

- "(3A) In subsection (3), the financial statements—
  - (a) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that is an interim reporting period, refer to the interim financial statements for the interim reporting period; and
  - (b) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that ends at the close of an annual reporting period, refer to the annual financial statements for the annual reporting period.".
- (5) Section 24—

# Repeal subsection (8)

#### Substitute

"(8) An authorized institution must disclose the capital conservation buffer ratio and (if applicable) the higher loss absorbency ratio that are to apply in calculating the institution's buffer level in the manner specified in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of section 3I(1) of the Capital Rules, as required by the Monetary Authority under that section."

(6) Section 24—

Repeal subsections (9) and (10).

(7) Section 24(12), Chinese text, definition of 有關資本短欠— Repeal the full stop

Substitute a semicolon.

(8) Section 24(12)—

### Add in alphabetical order

"capital conservation buffer ratio (防護緩衝資本比率) has the meaning given by section 3E of the Capital Rules;

higher loss absorbency ratio (較高吸收虧損能力比率) has the meaning given by section 3E of the Capital Rules;".

## 20. Section 24A amended (leverage ratio disclosures)

(1) Section 24A(2)(a) and (4)(a) and (b)—

### Repeal

"interim".

(2) After section 24A(4)—

#### Add

"(4A) In subsections (2) and (4), the financial statements—

- (a) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that is an interim reporting period, refer to the interim financial statements for the interim reporting period; and
- (b) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that ends at the close of an annual

reporting period, refer to the annual financial statements for the annual reporting period.".

(3) Section 24A—

Repeal subsections (6) and (7).

(4) At the end of section 24A—

Add

Section 21

"(8) In this section—

derivative exposures (衍生工具風險承擔) means the derivative exposures as described in the leverage ratio template;

securities financing transaction exposures (證券融資交易風險承擔) means the SFT exposures as described in the leverage ratio template.".

# 21. Section 24B amended (countercyclical capital buffer ratio disclosures)

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

Section 24B—

Renumber the section as section 24B(1).

(2) After section 24B(1)—

### Add

"(2) In this section—

applicable JCCyB ratio (適用 JCCyB 比率) has the meaning given by section 3N of the Capital Rules;

countercyclical capital buffer ratio (逆周期緩衝資本比率) has the meaning given by section 3E of the Capital Rules;

private sector credit exposures (私人機構信用風險承擔) has the meaning given by section 3N of the Capital Rules.".

### 22. Section 28 substituted

Section 28—

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "28. Mainland activities

- (1) An authorized institution must disclose a breakdown of its Mainland exposures to non-bank counterparties, if the exposures are material, into the specified categories.
- (2) In subsection (1)—

specified categories (指明類別), in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period, means—

- (a) if a period for which a return of Mainland activities is submitted by the authorized institution pursuant to section 63 of the Ordinance ends at the close of the semi-annual reporting period—the categories that the institution's Mainland exposures to nonbank counterparties are broken down into in the return; or
- (b) had a period for which such a return is required to be submitted by the institution pursuant to that section 63 ended at the close of the semi-annual reporting period—the categories that the institution's Mainland exposures to non-bank counterparties would have been required to be broken down into in the return."

### 23. Section 29 amended (currency risk)

(1) Section 29(1)—

Repeal

"in respect of the interim reporting period".

(2) After section 29(1)—

Add

Section 24

- "(1A) In subsection (1), the return relating to foreign currency positions—
  - (a) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that is an interim reporting period, refers to such a return for the interim reporting period; and
  - (b) in relation to disclosures for a semi-annual reporting period that ends at the close of an annual reporting period, refers to such a return for the annual reporting period."

### 24. Part 3A heading added

After section 29—

Add

# "Part 3A

# Interim Disclosures to be Made by Authorized Institutions Incorporated in Hong Kong".

### 25. Sections 29A and 29B added

Part 3A, before section 30—

Add

### "29A. References to authorized institution in Part 3A

Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to an authorized institution in this Part is a reference to an authorized institution to which this Part applies under section 3(2).

### 29B. Interim financial disclosures

An authorized institution must make interim financial disclosures in compliance with the prevailing accounting standards applicable to the institution.".

26. Part 4 heading amended (annual financial disclosures to be made by authorized institutions incorporated in Hong Kong)

Part 4, heading-

Repeal

"Annual Financial"

Substitute

"Additional Annual".

27. Section 31 amended (references to authorized institution in Part 4)

Section 31—

Repeal

"which falls within"

Substitute

"to which this Part applies under".

28. Sections 32, 33 and 34 repealed

Sections 32, 33 and 34-

Repeal the sections.

29. Section 35 substituted

Section 35—

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "35. Annual financial disclosures

An authorized institution must make annual financial disclosures in compliance with the prevailing accounting standards applicable to the institution.".

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

30. Sections 36 to 43 repealed

Sections 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42 and 43—

Repeal the sections.

31. Sections 45, 45A and 45B repealed

Sections 45, 45A and 45B—

Repeal the sections.

32. Section 45C amended (disclosure requirements for G-SIBs)

(1) Section 45C—

Repeal subsection (2)

Substitute

- "(2) An authorized institution that does not fall within the description in subsection (1) must, if so directed by the Monetary Authority under subsection (2A), disclose the information regarding its systemic importance as set out in subsection (3).
- (2A) The Monetary Authority may give a direction to an authorized institution for the purposes of subsection (2) if—
  - (a) the institution or, if applicable, its consolidation group had, as at 31 December immediately preceding the current reporting period, an exposure measure exceeding EUR 200 billion or equivalent (using the exchange rate prevailing on that day); or

- (b) the Monetary Authority, having regard to the characteristics of the institution, has reason to believe that the institution would be capable of having a significant impact on the effective working and stability of the global financial system were the institution to become non-viable."
- (2) After section 45C(5)—

Add

"(6) In this section—

**G-SIB** has the meaning given by section 3E of the Capital Rules,".

# 33. Section 46 amended (general disclosures)

(1) Section 46—

Repeal subsections (7), (8), (9) and (10).

(2) Section 46(11), definition of *major business activity*, paragraph (d)—

Repeal the semicolon

Substitute a full stop.

- (3) Section 46(11)—
  - (a) definition of international claim;
  - (b) definition of major country or geographical segment;
  - (c) definition of recognized risk transfer-

Repeal the definitions.

### 34. Section 47 substituted

Section 47---

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "47. Sector information

(1) Subsection (2) applies if an authorized institution's total amount of loans and advances to a counterparty type, or to a sector that has been classified by the institution as an industry sector, constitutes not less than 10% of the institution's total amount of loans and advances.

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

(2) The institution must, in respect of that counterparty type or industry sector (as the case requires), disclose the amount of new provisions charged to profit and loss, and the amount of impaired loans and advances written off during the annual reporting period."

### 35. Sections 48, 49 and 50 repealed

Sections 48, 49 and 50—

Repeal the sections.

### 36. Sections 51C and 51D added

After section 51B-

Add

### "51C. Operational risk

An authorized institution must disclose each approach for operational risk capital assessment it uses to calculate its exposure to operational risk.

# 51D. Interest rate exposures in banking book

An authorized institution must, in respect of its interest rate exposures that arise from its banking book positions, disclose—

(a) the nature of the risk;

- (b) the key assumptions the institution uses in its measurement of the risk (including assumptions regarding loan prepayments and the behaviour of deposits without a fixed maturity);
- (c) the frequency of its measurement of the risk; and
- (d) the variations in earnings or economic value (or other relevant measures used by the institution) for significant upward and downward interest rate movements in accordance with the method the institution uses for stress-testing, broken down by currency, if relevant."
- 37. Part 5 repealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by authorized institution using STC approach to calculate its credit risk for non-securitization exposures)

Part 5—

Repeal the Part.

38. Part 6 repealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by authorized institution using BSC approach to calculate its credit risk for non-securitization exposures)

Part 6-

Repeal the Part.

39. Part 7 repealed (additional annual disclosures to be made by authorized institution using IRB approach to calculate its credit risk for non-securitization exposures)

Part 7—

Repeal the Part.

40. Section 87 amended (references to authorized institution, etc. in Part 8)

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

Section 87(1)—

### Repeal

"which falls within"

#### Substitute

"to which this Part applies under".

### 41. Section 92A added

Part 8, Division 3, before section 93-

Add

## "92A. Interpretation of Division 3

In this Division—

active market (活躍市場), in relation to any financial assets, means a market at which the quoted price of the assets—

- (a) is readily obtainable and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency; and
- (b) reflects actual and regularly occurring transactions involving the assets, which take place on an arm's length basis;

cash and balances with banks (現金及銀行結餘) means—

- (a) cash in the till;
- (b) demand deposits with banks; and
- (c) deposits with banks which have a residual contractual maturity of not more than one month;

deposits and balances from banks (尚欠銀行存款及結餘), in relation to an authorized institution—

- (a) means all amounts which arise out of banking transactions owed by the institution to other banks;
   but
- (b) does not include such amounts taking the form of debt securities or certificates of deposit issued by the institution;

investment property (投資物業), in relation to an authorized institution, means any immovable property—

- (a) which is owned by the institution, or held by the institution as a lessee under a finance lease, to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both; and
- (b) which is not held by the institution—
  - (i) for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
  - (ii) for sale in the ordinary course of business:

loans and receivables (貸款及應收款項), in relation to an authorized institution—

- (a) means financial assets of the institution (other than derivative contracts) with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market; but
- (b) does not include—
  - (i) financial assets which the institution-
    - (A) intends to sell immediately or in the near term; or
    - (B) designates upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss;
  - (ii) financial assets which the institution designates upon initial recognition as available for sale; or

(iii) financial assets purchased by the institution, for which the institution may not recover substantially all of its initial investment for reasons not related to credit deterioration.".

# 42. Section 96 amended (provisions supplementary to section 94: derivative transactions)

Banking (Disciosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

Section 96(1)(a)—

### Repeal

"(excluding forward foreign exchange contracts arising from swap deposit arrangements)".

(2) After section 96(3)—

### Add

"(4) In this section—

exchange rate-related derivative contract (匯率關聯衍生工 具合約) has the meaning given by section 281 of the Capital Rules;

interest rate derivative contract (利率衍生工具合約) has the meaning given by section 281 of the Capital Rules.".

#### 43. Section 101 substituted

Section 101—

Repeal the section

Substitute

### "101. Mainland activities

- An authorized institution must disclose a breakdown of its Mainland exposures to non-bank counterparties, if the exposures are material, into the specified categories.
- (2) In subsection (1)—

specified categories (指明類別), in relation to disclosures for a reporting period, means-

- (a) if a period for which a return of Mainland activities is submitted by the authorized institution pursuant to section 63 of the Ordinance ends at the close of the reporting period—the categories that the institution's Mainland exposures to non-bank counterparties are broken down into in the return; or
- had a period for which such a return is required to be submitted by the institution pursuant to that section 63 ended at the close of the reporting period-the categories that the institution's Mainland exposures to non-bank counterparties would have been required to be broken down into in the return.".

Acting Monetary Authority

2016

# **Explanatory Note**

Paragraph 1

53

### **Explanatory Note**

Banking (Disclosure) (Amendment) Rules 2016

These Rules are made by the Monetary Authority under section 60A of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) to amend the Banking (Disclosure) Rules (Cap. 155 sub. leg. M) (principal Rules).

- 2. The main purpose of these Rules is to implement the requirements for disclosures (on an annual, semi-annual and quarterly basis) set out in the document entitled Revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in January 2015 (2015 Basel Package) (see new Part 2A added to the principal Rules). Parts 5, 6 and 7 of the principal Rules containing the existing disclosure requirements corresponding to those in the new Part 2A are repealed.
- 3. Presentational changes are made to the principal Rules so that certain disclosures are required for each semi-annual reporting period under Part 3 of the principal Rules (instead of those disclosures being required for each interim reporting period and for each annual reporting period under the pre-amended Parts 3 and 4 respectively). These changes will render the principal Rules more aligned with expressions relating to semi-annual disclosures in the 2015 Basel Package and help dispense with the need to duplicate Part 3 provisions in Part 4 of the principal Rules.
- A requirement for quarterly disclosures of key regulatory capital 4. and leverage ratios and their constituent components is added (see new Part 2B added to the principal Rules).
- 5. Existing interim disclosure requirements (if retained) are grouped under new Part 3A.
- The financial disclosure requirements contained in Parts 3 and 4 of the principal Rules are amended to remove duplications with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

- 7. Section 45C of the principal Rules is amended to enhance the existing disclosure requirement relating to the identification of potential global systemically important authorized institutions.
- 8. These Rules come into operation on 31 March 2017.

1

# Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) (Amendment) Notice 2016

(Made by the Monetary Authority under section 119A(3) and (6) of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155))

### 1. Commencement

This Notice comes into operation on 3 March 2017.

# 2. Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) Notice amended

The Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) Notice (Cap. 155 sub. leg. K) is amended as set out in sections 3, 4 and 5.

### 3. Title substituted

The title—

Repeal the title

Substitute

# "Banking (Charges Exempted from Section 119A(2)) Notice".

### 4. Section 1A added

Before section 2—

Add

# "1A. Interpretation

In this Notice-

assets (資產) has the meaning given by section 119A(1) of the Ordinance;

Annex B

Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) (Amendment) Notice 2016

Section 5

2

charge (押記) has the meaning given by section 119A(1) of the Ordinance;

OTC derivative transaction (場外衍生工具交易) has the meaning given by section 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571)."

### 5. Section 2 substituted

Section 2—

Repeal the section

Substitute

# "2. Specification of exempted charges

- (1) Section 119A(2) of the Ordinance does not apply to the following classes of charges—
  - (a) charges created in favour of Euroclear Bank S.A. (acting as operator of the Euroclear System);
  - (b) charges created in favour of Clearstream Banking S.A.;
  - (c) charges-
    - (i) that are created in connection with the relevant authorized institution's provision of initial margin for any OTC derivative transaction; and
    - (ii) the aggregate current book value of which does not exceed 5% of the current book value of the institution's total assets (excluding contra items).
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1)(c)(i), initial margin is provided for an OTC derivative transaction if a party to the transaction provides collateral to the counterparty with a view to mitigating any potential future exposure

Banking (Sp	ecification of	Class of	Exempted	Charges)	(Amendment)	Notice 2016
-------------	----------------	----------	----------	----------	-------------	-------------

3

of the counterparty that arises from a potential change in market value of the transaction following any default of the first-mentioned party.".

Acting Monetary Authority

2016

Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) (Amendment) Notice 2016 Explanatory Note Paragraph 1

### **Explanatory Note**

Section 119A of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) governs the creation of charges by an authorized institution incorporated in Hong Kong over its assets. The institution is, except with the approval of the Monetary Authority, prohibited from creating charges under certain circumstances (e.g. if the aggregate value of all charges existing over its total assets (excluding contra items) is 5% or more of the value of those total assets). However, the prohibition does not apply to the classes of charges specified in the Banking (Specification of Class of Exempted Charges) Notice (Cap. 155 sub. leg. K) (*principal Notice*).

- 2. With certain internationally agreed margining and risk mitigation standards being implemented and affecting authorized institutions incorporated in Hong Kong, it is expedient to exempt a certain class of charges relating to the provision of initial margin for transactions in over-the-counter derivative products from the prohibition. This Notice amends the principal Notice to provide for the exemption.
- 3. This Notice also amends the title of the principal Notice to make it more informative.